No. 72950-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS of the STATE OF WASHINGTON

. . .

.

FRED STEPHENS,

APPELLANT

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

RESPONDENT,

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY

Fred Stephens, pro se Monroe Correction Complex PO Box 888, TRU Monroe, WA 98272

COULT OF A PEALS DIVISION ONE

JUL 8 - 2015

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal is brought by Fred Stephens an inmate at the Twin Rivers Unit. He appeals the decision of Judge George Bowden granting Summary Judgment to the Department of Corrections (herein DOC). $\frac{1}{}$ The underpinnings for Summary Judgment, among other points, raises three issues of first impression: First, Stephens challenges DOC's censorship of his incoming mail from the interent (i.e. websites). Second, in the context of prisons, this is the first case to argue that Article 1, sec. 5 is more protective than the First Amendment. And third, this is the first case to claim a State agency violates federal law governing the internet. CP-08. [47 U.S.C. § 230 & 18 U.S.C. §2703 (b)(2). The case is only the second one before the courts concerning censorship of the internet. $\frac{2}{}$ As argued herein, the principle target on appeal is Policy 450.100 and DOC's decision to apply the THIRD PARTY mail prohibition to internet providers and users.

In addition, the appeal will argue that the trial court incorrectly applied the laws and decisions of this court in granting Sugmary Judgment.

^{1.} Snonomish County Superior Court, No. 14-2-03048-2

^{2. &}lt;u>In Bradburn v. N. Central Regional Library</u>, 168 Wn.2d 789, **231** P.3d 166, 173 (2010), the court noted that "there are ... no cases [involving the interent] decided under article 1, sec. 5."

II. ERRORS ON APPEAL

This appeal claims the trial judge erroneously granted Summary Judgment as follows:

1. The trial court erred when it failed to consider the state constitution and Stephens' <u>Gunwall</u> analyis before turning to federal law. Q. Whether Art. 1, sec. 5, grants enhanced or broader protection than the First Amendment?

2. The trial court erred in concluding that DOC'S THIRD PARTY MAIL policy does not constitute a prior restraint? Q. Whether DOC'S THIRD PARTY mail policy, as applied to the internet, is a prior restraint when it censors internet speech before Stephens receives it?

3. The trial court failed to consider Stephens' complaint that DOC's "Third Party Mail Policy", as applied, is overbroad and unconsitutional?

4. The trial court erred, contrary to <u>Turner v. Safley</u>, granting Summary Judgment based on DOC's "Bald Assertions".
Q. Whether the trial court improperly applied <u>Turner</u> granting Summary Judgment on "BALD ASSERTIONS"?

5. The trial court incorrectly applied the law of Summary Judgment where the Plaintiff provided evidence that impeached the single Declaration of Roy Gonzalez?

6. The trial court erred in not finding federal law barred DOC from imposing its policy to restrict information from internet providers and users. Q. Whether Stephens was a user of the internet?

7. The trial court erred granting Summary Judgment on the issue of retaliation? Q. Was the evidence sufficient to support a claim of retaliation?

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

A. PROCEEDING

1. On 7/23/2014, Stephens Petition for a Temporary Restraining Order (TRO). At the hearing, Judge Millie D. Judge denied the TRO and opined Stephens must provide a Gunwall Analysis. (Sub #20, CP-174). The order was unaccompanied with Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law.

2. On 10/8/2014, Stephens filed an Amendment Complaint. CP-157--173.

3. On 12/9/2014, the court held a hearing on Defendant's "2nd Motion for Summary Judgment". Following the hearing, Judge Bowden granted DOC's motion for Summary Judgment. (Sub #65, attached to Notice of Appeal).

B. RELEVANT FACTS. It is undisputed that DOC rejected Stephens mail printed and sent by internet website providers and users. DOC officials have not claimed the "CONTENT" of any mail sent threatens the "security and safety" of the institution; rather, officials reject mail premised on its source, i.e. being THIRD PARTY.

1. Rejection IN-MCC-10/10/13-751. DOC claims the mail was rejected "because it contained two persons' addresses on them which were obtained through an internet company." CP-60. Stephens debunked this claim providing a true copy of the mail that was rejected. See Stephens' Declaration, Appendix A, Ex 15; attached herein Ex 15.

2. Rejection I-12/6/13-751, mail from Help From Out Side; held a short "email from...Norma Didomo". CP-61. The email identified all parties to include email addresses. The content of the email concern the welfare of Ms. Didomo after the Typhoon in the Philippines. Attached herein Ex 8.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

4/14/2015

3. Rejection IN-MCC-3/5/14, mail from Inmate Scribes and "contained ... six profiles and messages from potential pen-pals." CP-61. The messages were simple requests to make contact. CP 125 thru 130.

4. Rejection IN-MCC-3/31/14-751, mail send from Inmate Scribes. This mail contained "two more profiles of prospective female pen-pals." CP-62.

5. Rejection IN-MCC-4/17/14-751. The mail held "two profiles and messages from potential pen-pals." CP-62. Each message was merely an invitation to make contact: Hello, here I am, call me.

6. In Stephens' Amended Complaint, he raised a claim for rejection #IN-MCC-7/1/14, but this rejection went unanswerred by DOC. See CP-160, @ ¶7.

7. Stephens' Amended Complaint also raised a claim of mail rejection IN-MCC-8/19/2k014-751, but this rejection went unanswered by Respondent DOC. CP-160, @ 18.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from Summary Judgment, this court reviews the trial court's decision de novo. <u>Keck v. Collins</u>, 325 P.3d 306, 312 (2014). De novo review includes the court's independent examination of the evidence. Id. When reviewing the evidence, the court "construes all facts and reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." <u>Woods v.</u> <u>H.O. Sports Co., Inc.</u>, 333 P.3d 455, 456 (2015).

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

- 4 -

4/14/2015

Summary Judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). The moving party bears the initial burden of showing no genuine issue of material fact, and meets its burden by showing an absence of evidence to support the non-moving party's case." Brummett v. Wash. Lottery, 288 P.3d 48. 53 (2012), see CP-63. On motion for Summary Judgment, the court does not weigh the evidence; rather, it decides whether the evidence gives rise to any issue of material fact. American Exp. Centurion Bank v. Stratman, 292 P3d 128 (2012). If the non-moving party presents contradictory evidence and the evidence is not too incredible to be believed by reasonable minds or the movant's evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is present and the court should deny the motion. Space Needle v. Kamla, 105 Wn. App. 123, 19 P.3d 461, 465 (2001); Montanev v. J-M Mfg Co., 314 P.3d 1114, 1147 (Div 1, 2013).

B. GROUNDS FOR APPEAL

IT WAS PLAIN ERROR FOR THE SUPERIOR COURT NOT TO CONSIDER CENSORSHIP OF STEPHENS'S MAIL AND FREE SPEECH UNDER THE STATE CONSTITUTRION, Art. 1 sec. 5. 1. IGNORED BRIEFING. Stephens raised the issue that the State Constitution is "different" and requires an independent interpretation than the First Amendment. CP-17. In opposite, Respondents argued that a <u>Gunwall</u> analysis

is necessary. CP-66. In Respondents' "Reply to Defendants' Second Summary Judgment", they claim: "Stephens provides no evidence or analysis that the state constitution contemplates greater protections for prisoners than the First Amendment." CP 2. Said claim is wrong for three reasons: First, the state has the burden to justify abrigement of its citizens rights. <u>Ino, Ino Inc.</u> <u>v. City of Bellevue</u>, 937 P.2d 154, 162 (1997). Second, Art. 1, § 5 has already been held to grant greater protection. <u>State v. Reece</u>, 757 P2d 847, 952 (1988) ("The language of article 1 section 5 is significantly different from the First Amendment and often will support a broader protection for free speech in Washington); And third, Respondents ignore the fact that Stephens did submit a Gunwall Analysis. CP 17-22.

As discussed below, the case is one of first impression, in the context of prisons no case has considered whether Art. 1, § 5 is more protective. Yet, because Art 1, sec. 5 grants free speech to "every person" (inmates not excluded) the question needs to be argued.

2. COURT'S DUTY. In this case, the trial Court ignored its duty to first consider the state constitution: "The judiciary has the primary responsibility for interpreting [Art. 1, § 5] to give it meaning and legal effect." <u>McCleary v. State of Wash.</u>, 269 P.3d 227, 246, (2012).

This court repeated the premise in <u>Collier v. City of</u> <u>Tacoma</u>, holding: "This court has a duty, where feasible, to resolve constitutional questions first under the provisions of our own constitution before turning to federal law". 854 P.2d 1046, 1050 (1993). Given the clarity of law, it was plain error for the trial court not to consider Stephens' claim of Free Speech under Art. 1, § 5. (Here after Section 5).

3. <u>GUNWALL</u> ANALYSIS? The legal landscape concerning Art 1, § 5, supports Stephens' position that an independent analysis under the State Constitution is warranted without <u>Gunwall</u> analysis. Starting with <u>State v. Rinaldo</u>, 36 Wn. App. 86, 95 (1984), the court recognized two things:

"First, the delegates [to the state constitution] were at least as familiar with the First Amendment ... as we are today. Second, the difference between the First Amendment and article 1, section 5,... which these delegates drafted and adopted, was earnestly intended.... It follows that the courts of this state have the power to interpret our state constitution as being more protective of press freedoms than the parallel provision of the [U.S. Constitution]."

The <u>Rinaldo</u> opinion creates a presumption that Art 1, § 5 is more protective. Continuing with the same logic, in 1988 the court in <u>O'Day v. King</u>, held: "[Art. 1, § 5] differs significantly from the First Amendment, and it is well settled its protections afforded constitute a 'preferred right.' " 749 P.2d 142, 146 (1988). Again, in <u>State v. Thorne</u>, 921 P.2d 514, 537 (1996), the court

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT - 7 - 6/08/2015 (Madsen dissent) wrote: "This court has stated that 'resort to the Gunwall analysis is unnecessary' where the court has already decided that the scope of protection under both the federal and state constitution is co-extensive." Citing State v. Earls, 116 Wn.2d 364, $374.\frac{3}{}$ Because the subject is "stare decisis", Stephens was not required to offer a <u>Gunwall</u> analysis. Thus, the trial court erred in not considering Stephens complaint under Section 5. CP 17.

4. WHY ARTICLE 1, SECTION 5 GRANTS ENHANCED PROTECTION

a) **Prior History.** In 1889, when the State Constitution was adopted, the First Amendment was not obligatory upon the States. <u>Patterson v.</u> <u>St. of Colorado ex rel Atty Gen.</u>, 27 S.Ct. 556, 559 (1907). Yet, the founding fathers knew of the First Amendment and intended enhanced protection. Rinaldo, id at 95. Indeed, the conventioneers of 1889 considered three proposals, each became progessively more liberal. "The third version...went all the way and was an affirmative grant of guaranteed right to every person." Id. at 93-94. CP 19. It reads:

"FREEDOM OF SPEECH: Every person may freely speak, write and publish on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right."

b) Mandatory Right. When Section 5 is read "in pari materia" with Art. I, sec. 29, there can be no doubt that Section 5 grants absolute free speech to "every person", Art. I, sec. 29 reads:

"The provision of this constitution are mandatory, unless by express words they are declared to be otherwise."

3. In accord, <u>World Wide Video, Inc. v. City of Tukwila</u>, 816 P.2d 18, 20 (1991); <u>Voters Educ. Committee v. WA. St. Pub. Disclosure Commin</u>, 161 Wn.2d 470, 493 (2007); <u>Am. Legion Post #149 v. Wasn. State</u> <u>Depart. of Health</u>, 164 Wn.2d 570, 192 P.3d 306, 320 (2008).

The expressed words "every person" in Art 1, § 5 cannot be re-interpreted to mean "every person" except prisoners. <u>Westerman v. Cary</u>, 125 Wn.2d 277, 288 (1994) (cannon for constitutional construction requires words to be given their ordinary meaning); <u>Delong v. Parmelee</u>, 336 P.2d 936, 950 (2010) (holding that the phrase "any person" guaranteed prisoners equal rights under the PRA).

c) Prisoners NOT Excluded. The founding fathers knew how to exclude prisoners. In other sections of the Constitution the founders expressly excluded prisoners from exercising certain rights. Const. Art VI, sec 3 "no right to vote"; Const. Art V. sec 2, "cannot hold public office"; and Art II, sec 29, prohibition against slavery. It is crystal clear that Art 1, sec 5 must include prisoners.

d) Individual right. Unlike the First Amendment (directed at the U.S. Congress) Free Speech under Art 1, sec 5, is not a mere guide to the formation of state policy, but a command, the breach of which cannot be tolerated. As held in Rinaldo, at 93-94:

"Those hardy frontier lawyers, newspaper people and their collagues at the 1889 constitutional convention said it as clearly as they possibly could, ... the right to free speech and press in the State of Washington is a privilege guaranteed to all."

Therefore, under Art 1, § 5, Stephens has the same right to receive internet speech as other citizens. To abridge his internet speech, unlike the four part test of <u>Turner v.</u>

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

<u>Safley</u>, "officials must show that a regulation authorizing mail censorship furthers one or more...substantial governmental interests"; e.g. "preservation of internal order, discipline, security ..., or unauthorized entry." <u>Robinson</u> <u>v. Peterson</u>, 87 Wn.2d 665 (1976).

e) Enhanced Protections of Article I, section 5

First enhanced protection of Art 1, § 5 is the Standard of Review. Because section 5 is an individualized privilege of free speech, DOC must put forth evidence its Third Party mail policy is necessary to achieve a substantial interest of safety & security of the prison. On this point, the DOC offers no evidence that internet website providers, as a party, threaten the security & safety of the prison; nor has DOC advanced any complaint that the content of e-mails sent to Stephens pose a threat to the prison. Rather, DOC supports its argument with Roy Gonzales' declaration who claims DOC needs to identify the parties to prevent violation of no contact orders? CP 78-79. Yet, Gonzales' supposition, standing alone, does not create a substantial interest of security & safety to the prison. <u>Ibid</u>

Second enhanced protection of Section 5 are the words "being responsible for that right"; these final words place the burden on DOC to show the content of internet speech and printed information is an abuse of the free speech. In other words, unlike the First Amendment, Stephens' right of

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

- 10 -

6/08/2015

free speech cannot be abridged unless the DOC can show that messages mailed to him constitute an abuse of free speech; e.g. abusive speech include: calls to riot, hate speech, obscene utterances, plans to escape, criminal activity, and threats to assault staff or inmates. Of course, to justify censorship of speech, DOC's mail examination must find contraband. In the instant case, the DOC does not claim Stephens abused his right of free speech.

In summary, Respondents have not carried their burden of showing a substantial government interest to merit censorship of Stephens' incoming internet mail. <u>Ino Ino. Inc. v</u>. <u>City of Bellevue</u>, 132 Wn.2d 103, 114 (1997) (The state bears the burden of justifying restrictions on speech). In addition, where abuse of speech is not alleged, no censorship can occur. <u>Rinaldo</u>, at 95-96 ("The record ... being devoid of any showing of abuse").

C. GROUND TWO ON APPEAL

THE STATE CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE I, SECTION 5 PROVIDES GREATER PROTECTION AGAINST PRIOR RESTRAINTS OF SPEECH THAN THE FIRST AMENDMENT.

1. ISSUE RAISED. Stephens raised the issue that DOC's THIRD PARTY mail policy, as applied to website providers, constitutes an unconstitutional prior restraint of speech. CP 1, & 164. However, the Respondents did not address the issued in their Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 63-70.

2. LEGAL HISTORY. While the application of Section 5 in the prison context is an issue of first impression, state court's have a long history of invalidating the form of censorship at issue. A "prior restraint" means:

"[A]ny form of govenment action which tends to suppress or interfere with speech activity before it is ultimately punished through civil or criminal sanctions in a court of law. <u>State v. J-R Dist. Inc.</u>, 111 Wn.2d 764, 776 (1988).

a) Prior restraints are NOT unconstitutional per se under the First Amendment, but they are under Section 5; <u>JJR Inc.</u> <u>v. Seattle</u>, 126 Wn.2d 1, 6 (1995). Section 5, "categorically rules out prior restraints of constitutionally protected speech under any circumstances", <u>Voters Educ</u>. <u>Committee</u>, supra at 470, "where the information sought to be restrained was lawfully obtained, true, and a matter of public record." <u>State v. Goe</u>, 101 Wn.2d 364, 374-75 (1984). This strict standard for evaluating prior restraints lies in the plain language of Section 5. 1bid.

Our Supreme court has struck down prior restraints is most contexts. <u>Adams v. Hinkle</u>, supra (enjoining "Comic Book Act" because it vested power to enter final censorship determinations to a state administrative agency); <u>Fine</u> <u>Arts Guild v. City of Seattle</u>, 74 Wn.2d 503 (1968) (enjoining administrative agency to censor sexually explicit films for the same reason); <u>JJR</u>, id at 1 (holding that licensing scheme was unconstitutional prior restraint); <u>Coe</u>, at 375

(court order invalidated because it was a pror restrain of lawfully obtained information).

Despite the precedent of our Supreme Court prohibiting agencies from imposing prior restraint censorship, the DOC is operating such a system under the facts of this case. See CP 58 & 75.

3. POLICY EXAMINED. First, the words "THIRD PARTY" appear twice: "DOC 450.100 IV A.3." CP 85; and again under "B. Outgoing Offender Mail". CP 86. Yet, none of the mail rejections violate the policy. The incoming mail is only for Stephens and not "FOR" a third party (another inmate); none of the mail rejections concern outgoing mail. [See disputes at CP 10]. Stephens reiterates: A plain reading of the mail policy shows his incoming mail was not in violation. <u>Ibid</u>. The policy at issue here is the verbal or internal memos from Gonzales and stated in his declaration. CP 74. Second, the term "Third Party Mail" is not defined. CP 98-101. Last, the "Third Party" mail policy does not appear in the list of "UNAUTHORIZED MAIL". CP 97-101. Thus, this court is addressing an unwritten mail policy that is arbitrarily & capriciously applied.

A studied read of Gonzales' declaration certainly speaks of a prior restraint, he states: "Under DOC policy 450.100, offenders are prohibited from engaging in any

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

kind of third party communications in a number of ways". (CP 75, para. 4). Though not specifically written in policy, Roy Gonzales gives an official command that constitutes a prior restraint of speech, to wit:

- a) The policy is imposed by "government action", DOC seizes and rejects mail, <u>J-D Dist. Inc.</u>, supra.;
- b) The policy as applied "suppresses or interfers" with protected free speech and associations. (Websites are the modern day newspaper, the information nighway).
- c) The speech DOC seeks to abridge is "punishable" by prison infraction, WAC 137-48-010 (Unauthorized Communication with another Inmate), or RCW 26.50.110 (Violation of an Order), or RCW 2.28.020 (Contempt);
- d) The policy blocks all protected speech as well as the speech the DOC seeks to prohibit, and;
- e) The policy is administered at the discretion of prison mailroom staff. (See CP 16 discussion of internet mail that was not censored).

The DOC's Third Party Mail policy, as applied to the internet, is a prior retraint and invalid under Section 5. Therefore, Stephens seeks this court's decision holding DOC's mail policy invalid as a prior restraint of speech. Importantly, holding the Third Party mail policy invalid does not impede DOC's ability to examine the mail for contraband or speech content that threatens the safety & security of the prison.

D. GROUND THREE ON APPEAL

DOC'S THIRD PARTY MAIL POLICY, AS APPLIED, IS OVERBOARD AND THEREFORE UNCONSTITUTIONAL

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