**FILED** 

72950-1

September 28, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington NO. 72950-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FRED STEPHENS,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Cassie B. vanRoojen, WSBA #44049 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division, OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 360-586-1445

##

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

Stephens has conceded that all of his restricted mailings were from commercial forwarding agents and that the content of each of the mailings was not from either Inmate Scribes or Help From Outside but rather from a third party. CP 273. In light of the Department's legitimate penological interest in knowing the identities of persons who correspond with incarcerated persons, coupled with Stephens' concession that his rejected mail was from third-party commercial forwarding agents, the Department's rejection of Stephens' mail was constitutional, and the lower court's decision should be affirmed.

# B. Under the *Gunwall* Analysis, Article I, Section 5 of the Washington State Constitution Does Not Provide Greater Protection to Incoming Prison Mail

When a party claims a provision of the Washington constitution provides greater protection than a provision of the federal constitution, courts conduct a two-step inquiry. The first step is to ask whether an independent interpretation of the state constitutional provision is warranted. *State v. McKinney*, 148 Wn.2d 20, 26, 60 P.3d 46 (2002) (citing *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 64, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)). The second step is to apply the *Gunwall* factors to determine "whether the provision in question extends greater protections for the citizens of this state." *McKinney*, 148 Wn.2d at 26. The factors include "(1) the textual language; (2) differences in the texts; (3) constitutional history; (4) preexisting state law; (5) structural differences; and (6) matters of particular state or local concern." *Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d at 58.

While article 1, section 5 provides broader constitutional protection in some circumstances, it does not follow that greater protection is provided in all contexts. *See State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 57, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); *State v. Reece*, 110 Wn.2d 766, 777–78, 757 P.2d 947 (1988). "For example, no greater protection is afforded to obscenity, speech in nonpublic forums, commercial speech, and false or defamatory statements." *Bradburn v. North Cent. Regional Library Dist.*, 168 Wn.2d

789, 800, 231 P.3d 166 (2010) (internal citations omitted). Instead, the "proper inquiry under *Gunwall* is . . . to ask whether *on a given subject matter* the Washington constitutional provision should afford greater protection than the minimum protection afforded by the federal constitution." *State v. Reece*, 110 Wn.2d 766, 777–78, 757 P.2d 947 (1988) (emphasis added); *McKinney*, 148 Wn.2d at 48-49.

Stephens does not demonstrate that article I, section 5 affords greater protection in the context of prison mail. In his attempt to apply the six *Gunwall* factors, Stephens argues that, historically, article I, section 5 was intended to protect all persons; that the state constitution includes prisoners in its definition of "person"; and that other constitutional provisions expressly exclude prisoners, while article I, section 5 does not. Opening Brief at 8-9. However, these generalized arguments are insufficient under *Gunwall* to show that article 1, section 5 provides greater protection specifically as related to incoming prison mail. And a mere difference in language does not settle the issue, for if this were the case, the remaining *Gunwall* factors would be superfluous. *Reece*, 110 Wn.2d at 778.

The burden is on Stephens to show that article I, section 5 provides broader protection for incoming prison mail than provided by the First Amendment. *See State v. Wethered*, 110 Wn.2d 466, 472, 755 P.2d 797

(1988) (burden is on the party seeking to expand state constitutional protection to demonstrate "adequate and independent state grounds"); accord State v. K H-H, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 353 P.3d 661, 666 (June 16, 2015) (discussing article I, section 5). He fails to do so. Instead, Stephens raises generic arguments about freedom of speech and prior restraint, without any attempt to demonstrate how the textual language of article I, section 5 provides greater protection for incoming prison mail than the First Amendment.

Stephens identifies no constitutional history or preexisting state law showing that the framers intended to provide greater protection to incoming inmate mail than already afforded by the federal constitution. This third *Gunwall* factor also allows for judicial consideration of current values and conditions, *Reece*, 110 Wn.2d at 778, which also weighs against greater protection to incoming inmate mail: the courts and the legislature have recognized the limited speech rights afforded to prisoners. *See* RCW 72.09.530; *DeLong v. Parmelee*, 157 Wn. App. 119, 144-145, 236 P.3d 936 (2010), (inmates do not retain all the rights a free citizen would have, including freedom of speech), *remanded*, 157 Wn. App. 119 (2010). While state courts have addressed speech rights under the First Amendment, Stephens has shown no reason why the same analysis should not apply under article I, section 5. *See also In re Parmelee*, 115 Wn. App.

273, 281, 63 P.3d 800 (2003) ("A prisoner retains those First Amendment rights that are consistent with his status as a prisoner or with the legitimate penological objectives of the corrections system."); *id* at 288 (a prisoner's First Amendment rights are "subject to limitation" while incarcerated "because institutional goals and policies take top priority."); *Livingston v. Cedeno*, 164 Wn.2d 46, 55-56, 186 P.3d 1055 (2008) ("As a condition of confinement, an inmate's first amendment right to send and receive mail lawfully may be restricted by prison regulations reasonably related to legitimate penological interests." (citing *Thornburgh v. Abbott*, 490 U.S. 401, 407 (1989)).

Washington courts have found that the language and history of article I, section 5 supports a broader protection for free speech in some circumstances than provided by the First Amendment. The narrow inquiry here, however, is whether third-party mail addressed to prison inmates deserves broader protection under article I, section 5 than is afforded by the federal constitution. Stephens has failed to demonstrate any basis for providing broader protection for incoming prison mail under article I, section 5.

# C. The Department's Restriction of Stephens' Mail Pursuant to Policy Was not a Prior Restraint Under Article I, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution

Stephens' prior restraint claim fails because the state constitution provides no greater protection to incoming inmate mail and mail policies are plainly constitutional under *Turner v. Safley*. While Stephens asserts Department mail policies are an unconstitutional prior restraint under article 1 section 5, scrutiny of the state constitution is unnecessary as argued in section (V)(B) *supra*. Indeed, "article I, section 5, prohibits prior restraints against protected speech but *permits prior restraints against unprotected speech*." *In re Marriage of Suggs*, 152 Wn.2d 74, 80, 93 P.3d 161 (2004) (emphasis added). Here, because the incoming third-party mail was constitutionally restricted under *Turner*, Stephens was not engaged in protected speech.

Moreover, Stephens' claims fail because the Department did not prevent him from speaking or publishing but merely restricted his access to information. A prior restraint is "an official restriction imposed on speech or another form of expression in advance of its occurrence." *Bradburn v. North Cent. Regional Library Dist.*, 168 Wn.2d 789, 801-02, 231 P.3d 166 (2010) (*quoting Sanders v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 198, 224, 156 P.3d 874 (2007)). Courts have distinguished between a prior restraint, which prohibits future speech, and a regulation related to the

access of information. *Bradburn*, 168 Wn.2d at 789; *Halquist v. Dep't of Corr.*, 113 Wn.2d 818, 821, 783 P.2d 1065 (1989) ("this court distinguished between prior restraints and restraints on access to information . . ."). While article I, section 5 confers strong protection against prior restraints, it does not protect the right to access information. *Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz*, 94 Wn.2d 51, 58, 615 P.2d 440 (1980).

Here, Stephens asserts a "prior restraint" occurred when the Department rejected his third-party mail before Stephens could receive it. Opening Brief at 11-14. However, Stephens fails to identify a Department restriction prohibiting future speech or assert that the Department prohibited his future speech. The only assertion here is that the Department regulated Stephens' access to information; regulations controlling access to information are not included in the protection that article I, section 5 affords to prior restraints. *Kurtz*, 94 Wn.2d at 58. Instead, "[t]he First Amendment protects the right to receive information and ideas," *Bradburn*, 168 Wn.2d at 802, and regulations abridging an inmate's First Amendment right to receive mail are analyzed using the *Turner* factors. *See Thornburgh* 490 U.S. at 411-13 (citing *Turner*, 482 U.S. 78). As previously discussed, the Department's restriction of

Stephens' third party mail meets the *Turner* test. *See supra* section (V)(A). Thus, Stephens fails to make any cognizable prior restraint claim.

#### D. RCW 72.09.530 is not Overbroad

Stephens alleges that RCW 72.09.530 is unconstitutionally overbroad when the Department employs it to censor all internet materials as "third party." Opening Brief at 15-16. A law is overbroad if it sweeps within its prohibitions of constitutionally protected speech. *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wn.2d 923, 925, 767 P.2d 572 (1989). To be invalidated as overbroad, a law must be substantially overbroad on its face. *Id*.

RCW 72.09.530 is not overbroad, as it gives the Secretary of the Department of Corrections the authority to review incoming mail and confiscate contraband, but only "consistent with constitutional constraints". RCW 72.09.530 (emphasis added). On its face, the statute does not prohibit any constitutionally protected conduct and thus cannot be overbroad.

Moreover, Stephens' overbreadth claim is based on a false premise. Stephens argues that it is overbroad for the Department to include all internet materials in the definition "third-party mail." Opening Brief at 15-16. Stephens' assertion is based on the assumption that the Department

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It should be noted that RCW 72.09.530 does not contain the words "third party." Stephens instead claims that the statute grants the Department authority to enact a mail policy, and the Department uses that mail policy to define "third party" as all mail originating from the internet. Opening Brief at 15.

rejected his incoming mail because it came from the internet, and further that the Department has banned all incoming mail originating from the internet. *See* Opening Brief at 1, 16. That is not the case. Stephens' mail was rejected not because it came from the internet but because it contained forwarded communications to Stephens from third-parties. CP 76. Thus, Stephens' overbreadth argument regarding the Department's claimed ban on internet materials is groundless.

# E. The Communications Decency Act Does not Provide Stephens any Basis for Relief

The CDA is inapplicable to Stephens' case. The act generally insulates internet service providers from liability for online content posted by a third party. *See Zango, Inc. v. Kaspersky Lab, Inc.*, 568 F.3d 1169, 1170 (9th Cir. 2009). It does so in part by preventing plaintiffs from claiming that a provider is the "publisher or speaker" of the third party information. 47 U.S.C. § 230(c). Here, the Department is not attempting to hold an internet service provider responsible for content posted to its website by a third-party, nor is it claiming that an internet provider is the "publisher or speaker" of the third-party information sent to Stephens. Thus, the CDA does not apply to Stephens' claims and provides him no basis for relief.

# F. Stephens Fails to Show That His Mail Rejections and Job Suspension Were in Retaliation for Protected Conduct

When an inmate alleges retaliation, he must prove: (1) a defendant took some adverse action against the inmate (2) because of (3) the inmate's protected conduct, and that this action (4) chilled the inmate's speech and (5) did not reasonably advance a legitimate penological goal. *Rhodes v. Robinson*, 408 F.3d 559, 567-68 (9th Cir. 2005). To show retaliatory motive, an inmate must show that his exercise of constitutionally protected conduct was a substantial or motivating factor behind the defendants' conduct. *See Brodheim v. Cry*, 584 F.3d 1262, 1271 (9th Cir. 2009). Timing alone cannot support a claim for retaliation; the prisoner must put forth other factual material to support the inference of retaliatory motive. *See Pratt v. Rowland*, 65 F.3d 802, 808 (9th Cir. 1995). The record does not support Stephens' claim that there is a genuine issue of material fact that the Respondents retaliated against him.

First, Stephens' retaliation claim fails because, as argued above, the rejection of third party mail reasonably furthers a legitimate penological interest. As addressed in Section (V)(A) *supra*, the Department's actions and its policy regarding rejecting third-party mail from commercial forwarding agents was rationally related to the legitimate interest of safety and security, and thus was constitutional under

Turner v. Safley. As such, Stephens' retaliation claim was properly dismissed.

Stephens fails to sufficiently identify the protected conduct which he claims he was engaged in which resulted in the retaliatory actions. In his brief he alleges he was engaged in litigation prior to the rejection of his mail and loss of job opportunities, but the amended complaint is void of any reference to his prior litigation activity or loss of job. CP 165. Rather, in the amended complaint Stephens claimed "[t]he evidence of each mail rejection speaks, ipso facto, to a deliberate effort to retaliate against Stephens." CP 165. As such, Stephens' newly raised retaliation claims resulting from litigation and job termination should not be considered by this Court. Even if they were considered, however, he still fails to demonstrate the other elements of a retaliation claim.

Stephens failed to show that any protected conduct was a motivating factor behind Respondents' conduct. He provided no evidence beyond the timing of these events to support his allegations of retaliation. CP 165. Indeed, he has not even alleged that the mailroom Respondents had any knowledge of his prior litigation history or that they would have any ability to affect his job classification. CP 165. Moreover, he has failed to demonstrate that Respondent would not have restricted his mail—consistent with their understanding of Department policy—absent his

alleged protected conduct. Without more, Stephens has not shown that his constitutionally protected conduct, i.e. filing a lawsuit, was a substantial or motivating factor behind the Department's decision to reject his mail from third-party commercial forwarding agents.

### G. This Court Should Decline to Consider Stephens' Arguments Because his Brief Does Not Comport with the Rules of Appellate Procedure

Pro se litigants are bound by the same rules of procedure and substantive law as attorneys. *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App 104, 106, 147 P.3d 641 (2006). The law does not distinguish between one who elects to conduct his or her own legal affairs and one who seeks assistance of counsel—both are subject to the same procedural and substantive laws. *In re Marriage of Wherley*, 34 Wn. App. 344, 349, 661 P.2d 155 (1983) (citing *Bly v. Henry*, 28 Wn App. 469, 624 P.2d 717 (1980)).

The purpose of rules governing contents of appellate briefs is to enable efficient and expeditious review of the accuracy of factual statements. *Litho Color, Inc. v. Pacific Employers Ins. Co,* 98 Wn. App. 286, 991 P.2d 638 (1999). RAP 10.3 sets out the requirements for an appellate brief. Specifically, RAP 10.3(a)(5) requires a statement of the case with references to the record for each factual statement. Arguments must also be supported with references to the record. RAP 10.3(a)(6).

Appendixes must include only materials contained in the record on review. RAP 10.3(a)(8). Arguments in briefs not supported by the record will be disregarded by the Court. *Bryant v. Palmer Coking Coal Co.*, 86 Wn. App 204, 216, 936 P.2d 1163 (1997).

This Court should decline to consider Stephens' arguments because his brief does not contain proper cites to the record. First, his statement of the case is replete with facts unsupported by the record. *See* Opening Brief at 3-4. Many of the cites which are included cite to docket numbers in the superior court, or exhibits allegedly included in an appendix to the brief which Respondents have not received. *Id.* Stephens' arguments are similarly unsupported by references to the record. For example, he asserts that "inmates still violate prohibited contacts using U.S. Mail" without any record citation. Opening Brief at 19.

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